**S266001**

**No. 19-55802**

---

**IN THE UNITED STATES COURT OF APPEALS  
FOR THE NINTH CIRCUIT**

---

WALLEN LAWSON,

*Plaintiff-Appellant,*

v.

PPG ARCHITECTURAL FINISHES, INC.

*Defendant-Appellee.*

On Appeal from the United States District Court  
for the Central District of California  
No. 8:18-cv-00705-AG-JPR  
Hon. Andrew J. Guilford

---

**APPELLANT'S OPENING BRIEF**

---

Patrick Leo McGuigan  
plmcguigan@hkm.com  
HKM Employment Attorneys LLP  
453 S. Spring Street, Suite 1008  
Los Angeles, CA 90013  
Tel: (213) 259-9950

Bruce C. Fox  
bruce.fox@obermayer.com  
Andrew J. Horowitz  
andrew.horowitz@obermayer.com  
Obermayer Rebmann Maxwell &  
Hippel LLP

## INTRODUCTION

Wally Lawson was employed by PPG as a territory manager and had worked in the paint industry his entire professional career, spanning 35 years, before joining PPG in 2015. Beginning in April 2017, Clarence Moore, the regional manager to whom Lawson reported, conducted a series of weekly conference calls during which he repeatedly instructed his fourteen territory managers, including Lawson, to surreptitiously “mis-tint” gallons of PPG’s “Rescue It” paint when Lowe’s employees were not looking or out on a break.<sup>1</sup>

Appalled at Moore’s directive, Lawson called Moore and told him he would not participate in the mis-tinting because it was wrong, and told Moore he believed his instructions to mis-tint constituted a directive to steal from Lowe’s. Lawson also reported Moore’s misconduct to PPG’s online portal for reporting ethics violations and had interaction with PPG’s internal investigator about it. Not long thereafter, Moore placed Lawson on a Performance Improvement Plan (“PIP), allegedly for not meeting sales quota. PPG, however, did not have a strict sales quota for territory managers, and certainly no policy requiring placement on a PIP for failure to meet it.

---

<sup>1</sup> This brand of paint was a slow selling product, and PPG would have had to repurchase unsold product back from Lowe’s. However, if a gallon of paint was mis-tinted, it was considered sold to Lowe’s.

PPG conducted a full-scale corporate investigation into Lawson's complaint about mis-tinting. The investigation revealed a larger scheme of mis-tinting that involved other management level employees like Moore. As a result, Moore was instructed to text all his territory managers directing them to stop the mis-tinting immediately. Meanwhile, Moore gave Lawson artificially low scores on Lawson's subsequent "market walks," an evaluation tool used to monitor performance of territory managers, and placed him (for the first time in his 37 year career) on a performance improvement plan. Moore then fired Lawson with the blessing of PPG management a few weeks after the investigation into the mis-tinting scheme. There is ample evidence in this case that Moore's stated reasons for firing Lawson were wholly contrived, and that in reality, PPG and Moore fired him for reporting a fraudulent and illegal scheme which they wanted to keep secret.<sup>2</sup>

The District Court erred in granting PPG's motion for summary judgment, because it applied the incorrect legal standard to Lawson's claim of whistleblower retaliation under Labor Code §1102.5 and his claim for wrongful termination in violation of public policy premised on a violation of §1102.5. The District Court erroneously applied the *McDonnell Douglas* standard. This is an entirely different and much more lenient evidentiary standard than that mandated by statute in

---

<sup>2</sup> The results of the investigation and the fraud, however, were never reported to Lowe's, nor was it ever issued a credit attributable to the inventory fraud carried out by Moore and his cohorts. Moore never received any actual discipline and remains at PPG to this day.

Section 1102.6, which provides the standard of proof for section 1102.5 claims. Section 1102.6 requires that the employer *disprove* retaliation by “clear and convincing” evidence once the employee has presented a prima facie case suggesting that the protected activity was a merely a “contributing factor” in the termination decision. Lawson’s refusal to participate in illegal conduct, his complaint to his manager Clarence Moore regarding his opposition to his illegal directive, and his complaint to PPG’s internal ethics hotline, all constituted protected activities under Section 1102.5.

In order to survive summary judgment, Lawson needed only to show evidence that the protected activity, individually or collectively, was a “contributing factor” in the adverse employment action taken against him. Given that Lawson’s complaint exposed a much bigger scheme within PPG, that Moore placed Lawson on a PIP and then terminated him after Moore was investigated for his role in the scheme, and the close temporal proximity of these events, the record at the summary judgment stage amply supported a finding that Lawson met his initial burden of showing that his protected activity was a contributing factor in his termination. The burden would then have shifted to PPG to show by clear and convincing evidence that PPG would have taken the same action against Lawson even if Lawson had not opposed or complained of Moore’s directive to mis-tint. The District Court did not require PPG to meet these stringent requirements,

requiring it only to show by a preponderance of the evidence a legitimate, non-discriminatory reason for the firing.

The District Court compounded its error by failing to draw all reasonable inferences in favor of Lawson, weighing the evidence, and improperly making credibility determinations. In granting summary judgment, the District Court relied most heavily upon testimony by Clarence Moore and evidence generated by him—a witness whose credibility is greatly in doubt. The District Court’s decision must be reversed.

## **JURISDICTIONAL STATEMENT**

### **A. The Basis for the District Court’s Jurisdiction**

The District Court had subject-matter jurisdiction pursuant to 28 U.S.C. § 1332 because the parties are of diverse citizenship and the amount in controversy exceeded the jurisdictional threshold.

### **B. The Basis for this Court’s Jurisdiction**

This Court has jurisdiction over this appeal pursuant to 28 U.S.C. § 1291. The District Court granted PPG’s motion for summary judgment on all claims alleged in the complaint and entered a final judgment in favor of PPG. (ER18-20).

### **C. The Filing Dates Establishing the Timeliness of the Appeal**

The District Court issued the judgment on June 26, 2019. (ER18). The notice of appeal was filed 16 days later on July 12, 2019. (ER15).

## **STATUTORY AUTHORITIES**

All relevant statutory authorities appear in the Addendum to this brief.

## **ISSUES PRESENTED**

I. Whether the District Court erred in applying the incorrect legal standards in dismissing Lawson's claims for retaliation under California Labor Code § 1102.5 and for wrongful termination as a matter of public policy when Lawson produced sufficient evidence from which a reasonable jury could believe that his protected activity was a contributing factor in his termination, and PPG failed to prove by clear and convincing evidence that Lawson would not have been terminated in the absence of his protected activity

II. Whether the District Court erred in applying erroneous standards for evaluation of circumstantial evidence, weighing the evidence, making credibility determinations, and failing to draw all reasonable factual inferences in Lawson's favor in granting summary judgment.

## STATEMENT OF THE CASE

### *Lawson's early experience at PPG*

PPG hired Wally Lawson as a territory manager in May 2015. (ER82). As territory manager at PPG, Lawson's job duties primarily involved merchandizing PPG paint products in Lowe's home improvement stores, ensuring that PPG displays at Lowe's were stocked and in good condition and that Lowe's associates were trained on PPG products. (ER82). Lawson initially reported to regional manager Paul Stanton. In October 2016, Lawson had his first market walk, a performance evaluation tool at PPG where employees are scored on various criteria while shadowed by their supervisor during their visit to the Lowe's store. Lawson received 92 out of 100 available points from Stanton. (ER542). Notably, Lawson was recognized for having the highest market walk score in the country (out of some 210 territory managers), and was awarded a pay raise and a gift card. (ER263). He also received a congratulatory call from Sean Kacsir, the divisional manager overseeing all of the regional managers in the western half of the United States. (ER263).

Sometime at the end of 2016 and beginning of 2017, Clarence Moore became Lawson's new supervisor. (ER253-54). In December 2016, Moore conducted a market walk with Lawson for the first time and gave him a score of 60 out of 100, which was considered "marginal" (ER547). On March 2, 2017,

however, Lawson received a positive annual review from Moore with a rating of “successful.” (ER98-99). Lawson had another market walk with Moore on or about March 15, 2017, in which he was given similar “unsuccessful” score of 58. (ER550-56). Although these two market walk scores were greatly reduced from those Lawson had received from his previous supervisor and it is evident that Moore was “a low grader,” no evidence was presented by PPG that the scores put Lawson’s job in jeopardy.

***Lawson’s opposition to and reporting of Moore’s unethical directive***

On April 18, 2017, Moore held a conference call with the fourteen territory managers under his supervision, including Lawson, during which Moore instructed the territory managers to surreptitiously “mis-tint” on every store visit (who visited Lowe’s stores five days per week) a few gallons of a PPG paint product called “Rescue It” at each of the Lowe’s stores.<sup>3</sup> Moore told them to do it “on the down-low” while no one from Lowe’s was watching. (ER115-18). Moore was under pressure from his manager, Sean Kacsir, to sell off the “Rescue It” paint in order to free up shelf space at Lowe’s stores for other PPG products. (ER133). The mis-tinted paint would then be placed on an “oops” rack next to the paint desk and sold

---

<sup>3</sup> Like most paint, the product is shipped from the factory as a neutral base formula without pigment, and then tinted to the customer’s requested color at the Lowe’s paint desk using a machine that mixes pigments into the base formula. (ER83, ¶8). While Lowe’s associates typically operate the tinting machine, territory managers would frequently cover the paint desk while the Lowe’s associates were at lunch or on break. *Id.*

at a deep discount. (ER 3). It is undisputed that Moore's mis-tinting directive to his territory managers violated PPG's Global Code of Ethics. (ER142). After the initial instruction, Moore repeated it in at least two subsequent weekly conference calls with his territory managers. (ER132). During those calls, some territory managers bragged about the amount of paint they mis-tinted. *Id.*

Lawson realized that Moore's scheme was illegal and unethical. (ER293-94). After conferring with his daughter, an HR specialist, on April 18, 2017, three days after the conference call, Lawson promptly reported Moore's unethical directive to the company's confidential online portal for reporting internal ethical violations on April 21, 2017. (ER293-94). Soon thereafter, Lawson spoke by phone with Moore and expressed his belief that the mis-tinting practice was wrong and that there was "no way" he was going to participate in it. (ER119-21, ER125-26). During this conversation with Moore, Lawson also related an anecdote about how Lawson had confronted an employee at his former job about using a company postage meter for personal mail, as he considered it stealing. (ER119-20). In his conversation with Moore, Lawson further made reference to John Dean and his historical role in Watergate and explained how it was applicable to the current situation. (ER125-26). In that context, Lawson told Moore that the truth mattered. *Id.* Moore at that point became agitated and told Lawson not to "concern himself"

with the issue, which Lawson interpreted to mean that his remarks were not well-received. (ER129-30).

***Moore's placement of Lawson on a performance improvement plan and Lawson's resubmission of his report***

Just a couple of weeks later, on May 12, 2017, Moore placed Lawson on a performance improvement plan ("PIP"). (ER349). Once an employee is put on a PIP, PPG's standard practice was for the employee's supervisor to meet that employee on a weekly basis to help improve their performance. (ER523). However, Moore did not have any one-on-one meetings with Lawson for over a month following the implementation of Lawson's PIP. (ER523).

After waiting several weeks for a response to his report to the ethics portal and not having received it, on June 15, 2017, Lawson telephoned PPG's ethics reporting hotline to resubmit his report of wrongdoing by Moore. (ER296-98; ER354). On June 26, 2017, PPG's compliance department contacted Lawson through the ethics reporting online portal and asked if he would speak with David Duffy, PPG's Senior Manager of Investigations and Corporate Security. (ER146). Lawson agreed and provided his personal cell phone number. (ER146). Duffy called Lawson on June 28, 2017, and left a voicemail asking Lawson to call back. (ER102). In doing so, Duffy heard Lawson's voicemail greeting, which stated: "Hi, this is Wally Lawson. I'm not available, please leave a brief message and I'll get

back to you as soon as I can.” (ER107). Lawson’s identity therefore became known to Duffy.

***PPG’s launch of a national investigation of inventory fraud at Lowe’s***

As a direct consequence of Lawson’s report, PPG subsequently launched a national investigation into the practice which revealed that it was widespread. (ER37). Following Lawson’s second report to PPG, Duffy assigned John “Ian” Dalton to interview Moore and the other territory managers whom Moore supervised. (ER212). Dalton interviewed all fourteen of Moore’s territory managers, who uniformly confirmed that Moore ordered the mis-tinting. (ER132-33). Duffy and Dalton thereupon issued a report finding that Moore was guilty of orchestrating the mis-tinting scheme. (ER151-52). Dalton also directed Moore to discontinue the practice. Moore then sent his territory managers a text message: *“Effective immediately!!!! Please do not mis-tint Rescue It product any more.”* (ER154, ER 215)(emphasis added). At the instruction of Dalton, Moore prepared a statement regarding his role in the mis-tinting for the investigative file. (ER148-49, ER216). In his statement, Moore remarkably continued to deny his active role in orchestrating the inventory fraud, falsely claiming that one of his territory managers suggested it on the conference call and that he had only “failed to stop it.” (ER148-49). However, PPG’s investigation revealed that Moore did in fact order his subordinates to mis-tint “on the down low.” (ER33-34).

Around this time, Dalton also received a report from another territory manager in Texas that her regional manager, Brian Wells, had similarly directed her to mis-tint paint. (ER146, ER156-57, ER160). Consequently, Duffy and Dalton expanded the scope of the investigation and enlisted Kacsir to assist. *Id.* During the course of discovery, Lawson learned that a third regional manager under Kacsir, David Larson, ordered his territory managers to mis-tint paint. (ER146, ER156-57, ER160).

***Moore's retaliatory market walks with Lawson***

On July 13, 2017, one week after Dalton interviewed Moore about his mis-tinting directive, Moore traveled to Los Angeles to do a market walk with Lawson and scored him 66 out of 100, another marginal rating. (ER338). During the July 13 market walk, Moore also observed that the training roster software on Lawson's company-issued iPad was malfunctioning, prompting Moore to send an email to PPG's IT department. (ER189). A training roster lists Lowe's paint department employees in each Lowe's store and tracks when the PPG territory manager assigned to the store has trained the paint employees on subjects related to PPG products. (ER176). Because Lowe's employees can have high turnover, territory managers have to frequently re-train at a given store and update their rosters accordingly. (ER175).

Moore conducted a final market walk with Lawson on August 16, 2017, this time accompanied by Sean Kacsir. (ER261). Moore scored Lawson 40 out of 100 points, an egregious score that was far lower than all previous market walk scores by Moore, and less than half of the score that Lawson had received from his prior supervisor. (ER342). Moore cited discrepancies in Lawson's training roster as part of the justification for the low score. (ER198-206, ER346-47). Moore never investigated the possibility, as was actually the case, that the discrepancies were caused by Lawson's tablet malfunctioning, and Lawson being forced to reconstruct the training events without any intention to deceive. (ER182).

Moore also acted as though he was not conscious of mitigating factors relating to Lawson's performance of which he was demonstrably aware. (ER77-78). Most importantly, Moore reassigned Lawson three underperforming stores including one that was eventually closed, and also removed two high-performing stores from Lawson. (ER78-79). This of course greatly affected Lawson's sales metrics, and Moore opportunistically used the resultant lowered sales numbers as justification for his PIP and firing. (ER79).

Moore's reasons for firing Lawson also shifted throughout the course of events, which suggests that it knew its reasons were not genuine and would not withstand scrutiny. Moore claimed that he put Lawson on the PIP because of his sales numbers, telling Lawson that he was required by PPG policy to place Moore

on a PIP under such circumstances. (ER79). Andy Mayhew, Lawson's HR Manager, however, confirmed that there was no such policy. *Id.* Next, Moore shifted the focus to Lawson's market walk scores and proceeded to give Lawson an unfairly low score to justify firing him. After Lawson complained to Andy Mayhew, PPG's HR Manager, that Moore was not administering his PIP or market walks fairly, Moore again shifted focus to the alleged falsification of Lawson's training roster—despite having no evidence that the errors in Lawson's training roster were caused by intentional falsification, rather than unintentional errors ultimately caused by problems with Lawson's iPad. (ER280-82).

***Moore's retaliatory firing of Lawson***

On August 21, 2017, Moore and Kacsir asked Andy Mayhew to approve the firing of Lawson. (ER519). Moore forwarded the request to his supervisor, Michele Minda, Director of HR for PPG. (ER197-98). Minda failed to take steps to exercise any oversight surrounding Moore's firing of Lawson. *Id.* Nor did she do what any reasonable HR officer would have done, and put Lawson under a different supervisor for the duration of his Performance Improvement Plan. *Id.* On September 6, 2017, with PPG approval, Moore fired Lawson at a meeting in a hotel conference room. (ER84, ER198, ER346-47). Mayhew participated in the termination meeting by telephone. (ER198). At the meeting, Lawson asked Moore and Mayhew why he was being fired, and Mayhew contended that Lawson had

falsified his training roster and failed his PIP, saying nothing about the proverbial elephant in the room—the fact that Lawson had reported the fraudulent mis-tinting scheme and had confronted him about it. (ER201). Lawson strenuously objected, and began to explain that any discrepancies in his training roster were ultimately due to performance problems with his company-supplied iPad, of which Moore was well aware. (ER279-80, ER346). Moore cut Lawson short, stating that it was of no consequence, as Lawson was going to be terminated regardless. (ER347). Lawson then said, “If anyone should be fired, it should be you [meaning Moore] because you stole from Lowe’s, our valued customer.” *Id.* Mayhew, however, refused to even discuss Moore’s misconduct, and then exclaimed, “This meeting is over, I’m hanging up now.” The meeting was then concluded. *Id.*

***PPG’s concealment of the fraud from Lowe’s and protection of Moore***

PPG never told Lowe’s that it had conducted a national investigation of allegations that PPG employees had committed inventory fraud against Lowe’s and never offered to make restitution for the fraud. (ER163).

After the fraud inquiry was completed, Minda gave Moore an elliptical “warning” that stopped short of stating that he ordered his territory managers to mis-tint paint. (ER165-66). Lowe’s dropped PPG paint a few weeks later, and ended its relationship with Defendant. (ER538). At that time, virtually all of the Lowe’s merchandising team at PPG was laid off. (ER172). Moore, however, was

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