**No. S266001**

**IN THE SUPREME COURT OF CALIFORNIA**

---

WALLEN LAWSON,  
*Plaintiff and Appellant,*

v.

PPG ARCHITECTURAL FINISHES, INC.,  
*Defendant and Respondent.*

---

On a Certified Question from the  
United States Court of Appeals for the Ninth Circuit  
Case No. 19-55802

---

**ANSWERING BRIEF ON THE MERITS**

---

Karin M. Cogbill,  
Cal. Bar No. 244606  
kcogbill@hopkinscarley.com  
Hopkins & Carley  
70 South First Street  
San Jose, CA 95113  
Telephone: 408.286.9800  
Facsimile: 408.998.4790

Everett Clifton Martin,  
Cal. Bar No. 227357  
cmartin@littler.com  
LITTLER MENDELSON, P.C.  
633 W. Fifth St., 63rd Floor  
Los Angeles, CA 90071  
Telephone: 213.443.4300

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

Thus, the existing law that the legislature sought to change was not the use of *McDonnell Douglas* at summary judgment, but the burden of proof for the employer’s same decision affirmative defense; raising it from the preponderance of the evidence standard identified in *Grant-Burton*, to the clear and convincing standard adopted by Section 1102.6.<sup>6</sup>

---

<sup>6</sup> This change makes intuitive sense, as the legislature did not want to let a proven retaliatory employer off the hook in the absence of very compelling evidence. What does *not* make intuitive sense is permitting an employee who was *not* retaliated against to get a trial in the absence of *any* evidence that the employer’s legitimate reason for the termination was a pretext.

**B. The Legislature Intended Section 1102.6 to Raise Defendant's Burden of Proof on Its Defense From a "Preponderance" to a "Clear and Convincing" Standard, Not to Lower Plaintiff's Burden.**

The legislative history must be considered *as a whole*, or it should not be considered at all. (See *Kaufman & Broad Communities, Inc. v. Performance Plastering, Inc.* (2005) 133 Cal.App.4th 26, 30 ["Even where statutory language is ambiguous, and resort to legislative history is appropriate, as a general rule in order to be cognizable, legislative history must shed light on the collegial view of the Legislature *as a whole*."] [emphasis in original].) While Lawson cites to a report from the California Senate dated August 18, 2003, that same day the California Assembly issued its own bill analysis of Section 1102.6, stating among the effects of the bill:

**4) Provides an affirmative defense against retaliation claims, even when the employee demonstrates that a proscribed activity was a contributing factor to the adverse employment action,** if employer shows by clear and convincing evidence that the adverse action would have occurred for legitimate, independent reasons.

(California Bill Analysis, Assembly Floor, 2003-2004 Regular Session, Senate Bill 777, August 18, 2003, p. 1 [emphases added].)<sup>7</sup>

Further, in the Analysis of Senate Bill 777 prepared for the Senate Judiciary Committee, the legislature was presented with the following

---

<sup>7</sup> This legislative report is available on Westlaw and at [www.leginfo.legislature.ca.gov](http://www.leginfo.legislature.ca.gov).

discussion under the header “**Standard of proof in whistleblower suit is raised**”:

c. Standard of proof in whistleblower suit is raised

According to the proponents, one of the problems encountered in civil actions or administrative proceedings where an employee was retaliated against or discharged for whistleblowing activities is the standard of proof used by the courts. The rule has been, in California and in most states, that after the employee makes a showing, by a preponderance of evidence, that an employer’s adverse action is prohibited under Section 1102.5, the burden shifts to the employer to show, by a preponderance of evidence, that the alleged action would have occurred for legitimate, independent reasons even if the employee had not engaged in whistleblowing activities. This, proponents state, has made it almost impossible for whistleblowers to win a challenged whistleblower lawsuit under Section 1102.5.

(California Bill Analysis, Senate Judiciary Committee, 2003-2004 Regular Session, Senate Bill 777, April 8, 2003, p. 5.)<sup>8</sup>

Accordingly, Lawson’s presentation of the legislative history is a selective one. The legislative history belies the notion that the legislature intended to “replace” the *McDonnell Douglas* burden-shifting, as opposed to augmenting the already-existing “same decision” affirmative defense. Even if the Senate report cited by Lawson supported his position, and it does not

---

<sup>8</sup> This legislative report is available on Westlaw. Additionally, for the Court and parties’ convenience, a copy is attached hereto as Exhibit A.

for the reasons discussed above, the identification of Section 1102.6 as an affirmative defense, as well as the intention to raise the burden of proof on that defense, is clearly in the legislative record and cannot be ignored. (*See Kaufman*, 133 Cal.App.4th at 30.)

Accordingly, if Lawson cannot raise a triable issue of fact to carry *his* burden for a Section 1102.5 claim, there is no reason for a trial. If Lawson cannot even raise a triable issue in the face of a legitimate, non-retaliatory reason for termination, then no reasonable jury could find that Lawson proved retaliation by a preponderance of the evidence, which is the plaintiff's predicate burden in Section 1102.6.

Even if the Court believed Section 1102.6 supplanted the *McDonnell Douglas* mechanism adopted in *Guz* and *Yanowitz*, this Court should also underscore that plaintiff's burden to "demonstrate[] by a preponderance of the evidence that an activity proscribed by Section 1102.5 was a contributing factor" requires more than a "prima facie" showing as articulated in *McDonnell Douglas*.<sup>9</sup>

---

<sup>9</sup> *See Guz v. Bechtel National, Inc.* (2000) 24 Cal.4th 317, 354-355 [100 Cal.Rptr.2d 352, 8 P.3d 1089] ["At trial, the *McDonnell Douglas* test places on the plaintiff the initial burden to establish a prima facie case of discrimination. This step is designed to eliminate at the outset the most patently meritless claims, as where the plaintiff is not a member of the protected class or was clearly unqualified, or where the job he sought was withdrawn and never filled."].

**IV. Use of the *McDonnell Douglas* Burden-Shifting Procedure at Summary Judgment Is Consistent with the Application of Section 1102.6 at Trial Because it Is the Best Measure of Whether an Employee Can Meet His Preliminary Burden at Trial (i.e., Whether the Employee’s Claim Should Survive Summary Judgment).**

Contrary to Lawson’s argument, there is nothing inconsistent between the use of the *McDonnell Douglas* burden shifting analysis at summary judgment with the application of Section 1102.6 at trial. If a plaintiff-employee cannot survive summary judgment under the *McDonnell Douglas* burden shifting analysis, then there is no basis for the trial court to conclude the plaintiff-employee could meet his burden under Section 1102.5 at trial. And, until a plaintiff-employee meets his evidentiary burden under Section 1102.5 at trial, the defendant-employer’s affirmative defense – and corresponding evidentiary burden – under Section 1102.6 is not implicated.

**A. The Purpose of the *McDonnell Douglas* Burden-Shifting Analysis Is to Determine the Employer’s Intent.**

As noted by this Court, “the *McDonnell Douglas* inquiry aims to ferret out the ‘true’ reason for the employer’s action.” (*Harris v. City of Santa Monica* (2013) 56 Cal.4th 203, 215.) This Court has also remarked, “by successive steps of increasingly narrow focus, the [*McDonnell Douglas*] test allows discrimination to be inferred from facts that create a reasonable likelihood of bias and are not satisfactorily explained.” (*Guz*, 24 Cal. 4th at 354.)

Under the *McDonnell Douglas* test applied at summary judgment, the plaintiff bears the initial burden (of production, not persuasion) to establish a prima facie case of discrimination. (*Id.*) If the plaintiff establishes a prima facie case, a presumption of discrimination arises. (*Id.* at 355.) At that point, the burden shifts to the employer to rebut the presumption by producing admissible evidence, sufficient to raise “a genuine issue of fact” and to “justify a judgment for the employer,” that its action was taken for a legitimate, nondiscriminatory reason. (*Id.* at 355-56.) The “legitimate” reasons “in this context are reasons that are *facially unrelated to prohibited bias*, and which, if true, would thus preclude a finding of *discrimination*.” (*Id.* at 358 [italics in original].) If the employer sustains this burden (again, of production, not persuasion), the presumption of discrimination disappears. (*Id.* at 356.) Then the plaintiff will have the opportunity to attack the employer’s proffered reasons as pretexts for discrimination, or to offer any other evidence of discriminatory motive. (*Id.*) Evidence of dishonest reasons, considered together with the elements of the prima facie case, may permit a finding of prohibited bias. (*Id.*) Ultimately, “an employer is entitled to summary judgment if, considering the employer’s innocent explanation for its actions, the evidence as a whole is insufficient to permit a rational

inference that the employer’s actual motive was discriminatory.” (*Id.* at 361.)<sup>10</sup>

**B. This Court Adopted the *McDonnell Douglas* Burden-Shifting Analysis to Determine Intentional Retaliation.**

Importantly, this Court has applied the *McDonnell Douglas* burden-shifting analysis on summary judgment to retaliation claims under the Fair Employment and Housing Act (FEHA). (*Yanowitz*, 36 Cal.4th at 1042.) Similarly, California appellate courts have applied the *McDonnell Douglas* burden-shifting analysis on summary judgment to retaliation claims based on the California Family Rights Act. (*Choochagi v. Barracuda Networks, Inc.* (2020) 60 Cal.App.5th 444, 458; *Moore v. Regents of University of California* (2016) 248 Cal.App.4th 216, 248-250.) This makes sense, because the ultimate issue in a retaliation claim is the same as the ultimate issue in a discrimination case: the employer’s intent. California courts have consistently employed the *McDonnell Douglas* analysis to determine employer intent. (*Guz*, 24 Cal. 4th at 354.)

---

<sup>10</sup> Lawson devotes a section of his brief to discussing the application of *McDonnell Douglas* in federal court. *See* Op. Brief, p. 17, Section III. Though PPG disagrees with Lawson’s assertions (*see Snead v. Metropolitan Prop. & Cas. Ins. Co.* (9th Cir. 2001) 237 F.3d 1080, 1094 [“when entertaining motions for summary judgment in employment discrimination cases arising under state law, federal courts sitting in diversity must apply the *McDonnell Douglas* burden-shifting scheme as a federal procedural rule”]), it notes that this Court did not certify a question of federal procedural law, so this argument is irrelevant.

**C. The Burden-Shifting Analysis in *McDonnell Douglas* Establishes Intent, or Lack Thereof, Prior to Application of a “Same Decision” Defense.**

The *McDonnell Douglas* burden-shifting analysis and the affirmative defense in Section 1102.6 are easily reconciled simply by performing the *McDonnell Douglas* test *first*. The *McDonnell Douglas* analysis at summary judgment remains unchanged by the introduction of Section 1102.6. Assuming the plaintiff-employee gets to trial and proves retaliation, the defendant-employer *then* bears the burden of proving that it would have made the “same decision” notwithstanding a retaliatory motive. This approach is consistent with a number of authorities stating that employers are permitted to present this defense **at trial** after the plaintiff-employee established liability (which might also be done at trial through the use of the *McDonnell Douglas* burden-shifting).

For example, in a “failure to hire” case arising under the Civil Rights Act, *Ruggles v. Cal. Polytechnic State Univ.* (9th Cir. 1986) 797 F.2d 782, the Ninth Circuit Court of Appeal set forth the following analysis for Title VII retaliation claims *at trial*. After walking through a traditional *McDonnell Douglas* analysis, the Court confirmed that at trial, the plaintiff had the burden to “prove by a preponderance of the evidence” that the adverse employment decision was the product of retaliatory intent. Once that plaintiff met his evidentiary burden at trial, the *Ruggles* court then introduced the potential for an affirmative defense: “[t]he defendant may rebut this

presumption by showing by a preponderance of the evidence that the adverse action would have been taken even in the absence of discriminatory or retaliatory intent.” (*Id.* [emphasis added].) That is exactly how Section 1102.6 should apply: after the employee *proves at trial* that the employer’s legitimate, non-retaliatory reason for its actions were pretextual, the employer still may establish a “same-decision” defense, but it bears the heightened burden of proof by clear and convincing evidence.

Similarly, in *Chen v. General Accounting Office* (D.C. Cir. 1987) 821 F.2d 732, the D.C. Circuit Court of Appeals confirmed that at trial, the *McDonnell Douglas* test would apply, followed by consideration of a defense very similar to Section 1102.6 as a final step after the plaintiff-employee establishes liability:

The petitioner must make out a prima facie case of retaliation before the case may proceed and before the employer must make any showing whatsoever. Once that prima facie case is made, however, the burden of coming forward shifts to the employer to demonstrate a legitimate, non-retaliatory reason for the adverse action against the plaintiff, in this case, the denial of a within-grade salary increase followed by discharge. If the employer fulfills that burden, the employee must then come forward and show, by preponderance of the evidence, that the employer’s articulated rationale for the allegedly retaliatory action, is pretextual. **Finally, in most situations, the employer is permitted one last defense: by clear and convincing evidence, the defendant must prove that the plaintiff would have been fired anyways, even absent retaliation.**

(*Chen v. General Accounting Office* (D.C. Cir. June 26, 1987) 821 F.2d 732, 738-739 [emphasis added].)<sup>11</sup>

The *Chen* court’s approach is precisely the one this Court should use when applying Section 1102.6. *After* the plaintiff-employee proves retaliation **at trial**, the defense is *then* introduced.

This construction of the statute is supported not only by a plain reading of the statutory language, but also by the jury instructions, precedents addressing the “same decision” defense in mixed-motive cases at trial, and precedents espousing the usefulness of *McDonnell Douglas* for determining intent. The purpose of Section 1102.6 was to heighten an employer’s burden in establishing its defense after retaliation has been proved. Application of the *McDonnell Douglas* burden-shifting analysis prior to examining the defense set forth in Section 1102.6 is consistent with Section 1102.6’s heightened burden for a defendant asserting the “same decision” defense.

---

<sup>11</sup> See also *Williams v. Boorstin* (D.C. Cir. 1980) 663 F.2d 109, 117 [“If the plaintiff has made a showing of ‘pretext,’ the defendant employer must then demonstrate by clear and convincing evidence that the plaintiff would have lost his job anyway absent retaliation for the plaintiff’s participation in protected conduct. This standard is plainly correct, as it not at all precludes a finding of a Title VII violation when an employer acts from mixed motives.”]; *Childers v. Slater* (D.D.C. March 22, 1999) 44 F. Supp. 2d 8, 15-16 [“Should the defendant meet its burden, the plaintiff must prove that the employer’s proffered reasons are a pretext for discrimination. The D.C. Circuit has additionally held that ‘in most situations, the employer is permitted one last defense: by clear and convincing evidence, the defendant must prove that plaintiff would have been subjected to the adverse action anyway, even absent retaliation.’”].

There is no reason to assume that Section 1102.6 was intended to *replace* the *McDonnell Douglas* approach, rather than revise the “final step” with a heightened burden of clear and convincing evidence rather than a preponderance of evidence.

**V. The Facts of This Case Demonstrate the Need for the Burden Shifting Procedure in *McDonnell Douglas* at Summary Judgment.**

In this case, it is clear that Lawson did *not* “demonstrate[] by a preponderance of the evidence that an activity proscribed by Section 1102.5 was a contributing factor” to his termination. (*See* Section 1102.6.) Indeed, the District Court concluded that Lawson could raise no triable issues to dispute the legitimate, performance-based reason for the termination of his employment. (*See Lawson*, 2019 WL 3308827, at \*4.) He showed no direct evidence of retaliation. (*Id.*) He could not dispute that he had poor sales numbers and received poor market walk scores both before and after his alleged protected activity. (*Id.*) He showed no evidence of any inconsistencies in or deviation from the application of PPG’s policies. (*Id.* at \*5.) He showed no conflict in PPG’s reasoning for his termination. (*Id.*) Due to these failures of proof, **no reasonable jury could find that he experienced retaliation**, because he had nothing more than speculation to suggest that PPG acted with retaliatory intent.

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